IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

* * * *

Electronically Filed Jan 05 2018 11:11 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Docke Clerk of Supreme Court

KAYCEAN BUMA, AS THE SURVIVING SPOUSE, AND DELANEY BUMA, AS THE SURVIVING CHILD OF JASON BUMA, (DECEASED)

Appellants,

VS.

PROVIDENCE CORP. DEVELOPMENT D/B/A MILLER HEIMAN, INC., AND GALLAGHER BASSETT SERVICES, INC.,

Respondents.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal from July 24, 2017 Order Denying Petition for Judicial Review Regarding Denial of Workers Compensation Death Benefits, Second Judicial District Court, The Honorable Barry L. Breslow, Dept. 8, Case No. CV17-00423.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction to hear this appeal from the district court's denial of the Appellants' Petition for Judicial Review pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1) and NRS 233B.150.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(14) as it is a matter, raising as its principle issue, a question of statewide public importance involving the application of the traveling employee doctrine. That doctrine is of importance to all Nevada employers whose employees are required to travel in the course and scope of their employment and to all Nevada employees who must travel in the course and scope of their employment. The issue has not been addressed by the Nevada Supreme Court.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Whether the district court erred in not finding that the appeals officer's decision of February 07, 2017 is contrary to the substantial weight of the evidence, is arbitrary and capricious, and errs as a matter of law, by not correctly applying the 'traveling employee doctrine' or the 'personal comfort doctrine'.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter comes before the Court as a contested worker's compensation claim. This appeal is based on the worker's compensation insurer's denial of death benefits to the heirs of Jason Buma, who died in an ATV accident while he was on a business trip for his employer, Miller Heiman, Inc. (hereinafter Herman Miller). At the time of his death, Mr. Buma was employed as a vice president of sales by Miller Heiman, Inc.

Mr. Buma's statutory heirs are his wife, Kaycean Buma, and Delaney Buma, the couple's 15-year-old daughter. They seek death benefits pursuant to NRS 616C.505 as a result of the death of Mr. Buma in an accident that occurred within the course and scope of Mr. Buma's employment.

Gallagher Bassett is the third party administrator (insurer) handling the worker's compensation claim for compensation brought by Mr. Buma's heirs. The insurer denied Mr. Buma's heirs' request for workers compensation death benefits. The insurer's denial of benefits is based on NRS616B.612 and NRS 616C.150, generally stating, that Mr. Buma's accident and death were "outside the course and scope of his employment." [cite] The insurer also based its denial of benefits on NRS 617.440, alleging that no "disease" or condition existed that could be considered for coverage. AA 46.

The denial of benefits was appealed to the hearing officer and then to the appeals officer, which denied death benefits in its February 7, 2017 Decision and Order. AA 7-21.

Appellants filed a Petition for Judicial Review in the Second Judicial

District Court on February 28, 2017. The Court filed its Briefing Schedule on May 10, 2017. In accordance with the briefing schedule, Appellants filed an Opening Brief on June 08, 2017. Respondents filed an Answering Brief on July 03, 2017. The Appellant's Reply Brief was due on August 02, 2017. The district court denied Appellants the ability to file a Reply by prematurely filing its Order Denying Petition for Judicial Review on July 24, 2017. In the second sentence of its Order, the district court erroneously stated that the petition was fully briefed. AA 1.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Stated simply, Miller Heiman is a provider of sales training to Fortune 500 companies and corporations to assist them in increasing productivity. Jason Buma was an employee of Miller Heiman. His job duties required him to travel extensively to meet with potential clients, give sales presentations, and oversee training teams.

On March 29, 2015, Mr. Buma travelled to the state of Texas to join his colleague Michael O'Callaghan, to prepare and make two presentations to potential clients and to attend an oil and gas convention on behalf of his employer. The presentations were scheduled to take place on March 30, 2015, in Houston, Texas, the morning after his arrival.

Michael O'Callaghan was an independent contractor for Miller Heiman. Mr. O'Callaghan and Mr. Buma had a professional relationship and regularly worked together on behalf of Miller Heiman to make presentations to potential new clients and to work on projects and proposals. Mr. Buma had arranged air travel to Texas to allow him to spend the night at Mr. O'Callaghan's ranch, which was located in the small town of Carmine just outside of Houston, Texas, in order to prepare for their presentations on behalf of Miller Heiman the morning following.

After traveling most of the day, Mr. Buma arrived at Mr. O'Callaghan's ranch at approximately 3:30 p.m. He and Mr. O'Callaghan had planned to go to dinner that evening and prepare for the next day. Before dinner, to unwind from the day's travel, the two went for a short ATV ride around the ranch property. During that ride, the ATV that Mr. Buma was riding overturned. The injuries suffered in that accident caused his death.

Mr. Buma traveled to Texas for the sole purpose of performing his job duties for Miller Heiman. He intended to stay at Mr. O'Callaghan's ranch for the sole purpose of preparing for the two presentations that were scheduled for the next day and to attend the oil and gas convention in Houston, Texas.

1. Kaycean Buma's testimony.

Kaycean Buma was the only witness who testified at the April 13, 2016

appeals hearing. However, the Appeals Officer admitted into evidence a transcript of a recorded statement of Mr. Michael O'Callaghan and a written investigative report, taken by a private investigator hired by the employer, with no objection by either party. Mr. O'Callaghan was Mr. Buma's co-worker, host, and the owner of the ranch where Mr. Buma was staying at the time of his death.

Mrs. Buma stated that she and Mr. Buma had been married for 18 years and their daughter Delaney was 15 years old. AA 199:16-25. Mr. Buma held a bachelors degree and had worked in the corporate world for most of his professional life in high level sales positions: as President of Corporate Vision; and as regional manager for H&R Block. He originally worked for Miller Heiman in 1998 and than went back to work for them in 2012. AA 200:12-24; AA 147.

Mrs. Buma explained that Miller Heiman "sells sales training to different companies to help them improve their productivity." She explained that Miller Heiman's clientele includes Fortune 500 companies, both national and international, such as, Dresser-Rand, Halliburton, Disney, Foster Farms, etc. AA 201:2-8

Mr. Buma was a vice-president of sales. His job duties required him to travel often and included meeting with potential new clients to make sales presentations. He was also responsible for overseeing the training teams sent to companies, which had purchased sales programs from Heiman Miller. And, was responsible for overseeing and managing the activities of independent representatives who worked for Miller Heiman around the world. Mrs. Buma testified that 40%-50% of Mr. Buma's working time involved traveling. He had no clients in Nevada. AA 203:4,13. AA 203:5-10.

When asked if there were any bounds to Mr. Buma's work hours, Mrs. Buma stated he was on-call all of the time. She testified that when he was not traveling, Mr. Buma worked primarily from home. She testified that she observed him replying to emails at 6:00 am and would take calls at 5:00 pm and sometimes up till 9:00 or 10:00 at night and would take "weekend calls...vacation calls...calls while hiking." AA 205, 206.

Mrs. Buma stated that Mr. Buma always stayed in hotels when he traveled except when he attended the Oil and Gas Industry Conference in Houston, when he would stay with his co-worker, Michael O'Callaghan at his ranch in Carmine, Texas. AA 203:15-24. The company reimbursed all of Mr. Buma's travel expenses. AA 204:9-14.

On March 29, 2015 Mr. Buma flew to Houston the day before the Oil and Gas Industry Conference began. Mrs. Buma testified, "[T]hat he was flying in the day before to work with Mickey, Michael, on a presentation that they were giving the next morning early." AA 206:13-15. That day, Mrs. Buma dropped him off at the airport "a little before 5:00 am in the morning." AA 207:1

Mrs. Buma described what she knew of Mr. O'Callaghan's ranch.

It's fairly big. You know, he's got a couple of houses on it, one where people can--like a guesthouse, which is where Jason was staying. ..

You know, it's got some fishing and some hunting on it, that kind of thing.

I think it's got a big pond that's always stocked with fish, and they can hunt on the property.

AA 208:11-20

Mrs. Buma testified that Mr. O'Callaghan and Mr. Buma ".....worked together a lot. I mean every other week." AA 210:17-22. She specifically remembered that her husband had stayed at Mr. O'Callaghan's the year before for the Oil and Gas Conference. AA 212:1-4

Mrs. Buma concluded her testimony by confirming that Mr. Buma had never stayed at Mr. O'Callaghan's ranch for pleasure. AA 212:8-10.

2. Michael O'Callaghan's recorded statements.

In the course of an investigation conducted by Miller Heiman, Mr. O'Callaghan was interviewed by an investigator at his ranch in Carmine, Texas. His recorded statement verified that he had worked with Mr. Buma for "approximately three years." AA 132:11

..It was quite common for him to come and stay here at the ranch, and then we would drive in and out for our meetings. It gave us more time to strategize and plan, things like that." and stated that in fact he had stayed at the ranch several times in the prior years in order to work with Mr. O'Callaghan before and during the Oil and Gas Industry Conference.

AA 133:8-17.

Mr. O'Callaghan explained his professional relationship with Mr. Buma as business partners. "We would partner up and chase opportunities, manage accounts, close deals..." AA 132:4-8.

Mr. O'Callaghan described his ranch as being 74-75 acres with a few other buildings that were bedrooms and storage along with a few acre pond. AA133:1-6.

Mr. O'Callaghan described the events of the late afternoon leading up to Mr. Buma's death. Mr. Buma arrived at the ranch about 3:30 pm and they "visited for a little while, and then we were going to dinner. He was going to take my wife and I out to dinner like he normally did when he came in. And he wanted to take a ride on the ATV's which we had also done previously, and so we decided to take a quick ride on the ATV's before going to dinner." AA 134:15-21.

Mr. O'Callaghan states they had been riding about 20 minutes and he did not witness the accident.

We rode around the ranch there's some trails out here...and then he wanted to ride to the end of Hercules Road and back, and we were going to dinner. Hercules road is a dead end road that goes about a mile. Accident happened as he was going around the curve.

AA 140.

This road is described as a "caliche road...It's a rock or aggregate that they

put down." AA 136:7-13. It's a dead end county road and nobody else lives on this road. "Traffic's pretty rare." AA 142:2-4.

Although Mr. O'Callaghan was behind Mr. Buma he did not actually see the accident as he had gone around a curve in road. Mr. O'Callaghan found Mr. Buma lying in the middle of the gravel road where he died. Apparently the ATV had rolled because it was quite damaged and it was facing the wrong direction but still running. AA 135:13-24.

3. The Appeals Officer's Decision.

In its Decision and Order of February 07, 2017, denying benefits, the appeals officer made several factual and legal errors.

In paragraphs 5 and 17 of its Findings of Fact, the appeals officer found that, "Mr. O'Callaghan was not an employee of Miller Heiman, Inc., and was the owner of his own company. Mr. O'Callaghan was an independent consultant who would work with Miller Heiman, Inc." AA 8, 10. This finding is not based on any relevant evidence. It is misleading, as it fails to acknowledge that Mr. Buma and Mr. O'Callaghan were working together on presentations to two potential new clients on behalf of Miller Heiman, Inc. and intended to attend the oil and gas convention together the next day. The only reason Mr. Buma was staying at O'Callaghan's ranch, instead of a hotel, was to allow him and Mr. O'Callaghan time to prepare the next day's presentations. AA 132, AA 209.

The appeals officer's findings, that "there were no company events on March 29, 2015" [the date of the injury] and that Buma "was not required to meet with clients until March 30, 2015 at 8:30 and 9:30 a.m.", are also misleading. These findings are ludicrous in light of the totality of the circumstances. As previously noted, the uncontradicted testimony and evidence confirmed that Mr. Buma was required to be at the convention in Houston, Texas by 8:30 am on March 30. He was required to fly across the country to get to Texas. Although not at issue, Mr. Buma was required to arrive in Texas the day before his morning presentations. Further, he needed to work on these presentations with his co-worker, Mr. O'Callaghan, in advance. AA 132, AA 209.

The appeals officer found that the accident did not occur on the employer's property and that Buma's employer had "no control over where the Claimant stayed or when he arrived." AA 13, 15. Armed with these findings, the appeals officer erroneously implied that Mr. Buma was not staying at the ranch for the employer's benefit, and that he arrived long before the convention. Neither is true. Buma arrived at Mr. O'Callaghan's ranch the afternoon of the day before the convention and stayed at Mr. O'Callaghan's ranch for the sole purpose of preparing with his co-worker for presentations on his employer's behalf. AA 132, AA 209.

The appeals officer based her denial of benefits on the 'coming and going

rule'. But, this rule is insufficient to analyze the case of a traveling employee. AA 13, 14. The appeals officer also based her decision on the 'benefit to the employer rule', (AA 14-16), but does not acknowledge that the facts demonstrate that Mr. Buma was only in Texas and only at the ranch for the benefit of his employer. AA 132, AA 209. Alarmingly, the appeals officer does not acknowledge or address the 'traveling employee doctrine' even though it was heavily relied upon by Mr. Buma's heirs in their argument for benefits. Consistently, the appeals officer did not even acknowledge that an employee's personal activity could ever be within the course of employment. AA 16, 17.

The appeals officer emphasized that benefits should be denied because Buma "chose to stay at his friend's ranch home...rather than a hotel." AA 17. Despite the evidence to the contrary, the appeals officer does not acknowledge that it was not merely a friend's ranch, but a co-worker, and Mr. Buma and Mr. O'Callaghan were working together to prepare presentations the two had scheduled for the following morning, for the benefit of the employer. AA 132, AA 209.

The appeals officer also misunderstands and misapplies the 'increased risk' test, AA 19. Specifically, the appeals officer's decision never acknowledges that traveling employees are subjected to increased risk simply by the nature of their work and by having to be on the road and in unfamiliar conditions.

The District Court's Decision.

The fundamental errors in this case are highlighted by the district court's premature decision denying the Petition for Judicial Review without full briefing, while erroneously recounting in its Order that the petition was fully briefed. AA 1 The district court expressly declined to apply the 'traveling employee doctrine' and also found that the 'Personal Comfort Doctrine' did not "extend" to the instant case. AA 3-4.

Citing to *Evans v. Southwest Gas Corp.* 108 Nev. 1002, 1005-06, 842 P.2d 719 (1992) in its attempt to apply the narrowest standard possible, the district court erroneously pronounced: "[i]f an employee who is outside the scope of normal employment they must be performing an errand or confer a distinct benefit for the employer for it to fall within the course of that employee's work." AA Id at 3. The Court not only appears confused but makes an erroneous statement of the law.

The *Evans* Court actually stated that, "Generally, an employee who is traveling to or from work is outside the scope of his or her employment unless the employee is performing an errand for the employer or otherwise conferring a benefit upon the employer." *Id., citing Molino v. Asher*, 96 Nev. 814, 817, 618 P.2d 878, 879 (1980). This standard is obviously not applicable to an employee who travels as an integral part of his job as Mr. Buma did. See NRS 616B.612(3),

infra ("Travel for which an employee receives wages *shall* … be deemed in the course of employment.").

The district court decision contains similar errors of law and fact, when it denied the Petition on the grounds that (1) Buma "did not have any business activities at the ranch"; (2) "the accident did not occur on the Employer's property"; (3) "riding an ATV was not part of Buma's job duties"; and (4) "the ATV was not owned by the Employer." AA 4. The finding is factually erroneous because Buma did have business at the ranch, as it was undisputed that he was there to work with his co-worker in preparation for their presentations early the next morning. AA 132, AA 209. Moreover, the other three findings are erroneous as a matter of law, because these factors are not applicable to traveling employees.

The district court's decision is rife with errors of fact and law, which inherently render it arbitrary, capricious, and an abuse of discretion, requiring that it be overturned.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Jason Buma traveled to Houston, Texas, on March 29, 2015, for the business purposes of making two presentations to new clients with his colleague Michael O'Callaghan and attending an oil and gas convention. Both of these activities were on behalf of his employer, Miller Heiman, Inc. Mr. Buma was staying at Mr. O'Callaghan's ranch for the sole reason that the two could prepare for their presentations the next day at the convention. Shortly after arriving at Mr. O'Callaghan's ranch, Mr. Buma and Mr. O'Callaghan decided to take an ATV ride around the area of the ranch before they went to dinner. Mr. Buma had an accident while riding the ATV that caused his death.

Mr. Buma was not an hourly employee, but a vice-president of the company. He was in Houston to solicit new clients and to attend a conference. These activities were part of his job duties. Pursuant to NRS 616B.612(3), it is mandatory that his death while in Texas is compensable, unless there is some legal exception that applies. The appeals officer's approach to this case was exactly the opposite of what the statute requires. Indeed, in its legal analysis, common sense would dictate that the district court and the appeals officer should have started with the application of the statute, and yet neither one mentioned NRS 616B.612(3). This omission is an error as a matter of law.

As for whether the factual aspects of the appeals officer's decision are supported by substantial evidence, one need look no further than the appeals officer's unreasonable attempt to minimize the fact that Mr. Buma was in Texas, and at Mr. O'Callaghan's ranch solely to prepare for and make presentations to two potential new clients and attend an oil and gas convention in behalf of his employer. The appeals officer's painful reasoning that Mr. Buma "was not required to meet with clients until March 30, 2015 at 8:30 a.m...." underscores the dubious nature of the reasoning undertaken by the appeals officer.

Mr. Buma's death is compensable under the workers compensation statutory scheme in Nevada because he was a traveling employee. The evidence established that Mr. Buma's sole purpose for being at Mr. O'Callaghan's ranch was for the benefit of his employer. The brief ATV ride with his co-worker was not an unreasonable personal departure or deviation, but was akin to a walk around hotel grounds while traveling on business.

The appeals officer's decision denying death benefits to Mr. Buma's heirs and the district court's decision affirming that decision were in error because neither decision is supported by substantial evidence, both decisions are clearly erroneous and contain errors of fact and law, and both are contrary to the law governing traveling employees. Accordingly, this Court must reverse the district court's decision.

LEGAL AUTHORITIES

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE PETITION FOR JUDICIAL REVIEW BECAUSE THE APPEALS OFFICER'S DECISION IS CONTRARY TO THE SUBSTANTIAL WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE, IS ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS, AND ERRS AS A MATTER OF LAW.

Supporting Facts.

Jason Buma traveled to Houston, Texas, on March 29, 2015, for the sole

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