1 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 2 3 Case No.: 73623 Electronically Filed Feb 27 2018 01:41 p.m. KACEANN BUMA, AS SURVIVING SPOUSE, AND DELANEY BUMA, AS Elizabeth A. Brown SURVIVING CHILD OF JASON BUMA, (DECEASED), Clerk of Supreme Court 6 Appellants, 7 8 PROVIDENCE CORP. DEVELOPMENT D/B/A MILLER HEIMAN, INC., and GALLAGHER BASSETT SERVICES, INC., 11 Respondent. 12 13 **RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF** 14 15 16 **17** 18 19 20 LEE E. DAVIS, ESQ. CHARLES DIAZ, ESQ. Nevada Bar No.: 3349 Nevada Bar No.: 3932 LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH 21 DIAZ & GALT 2300 W. Sahara Avenue, Ste. 300, Box 28 443 Marsh Avenue 22 Las Vegas, NV 89102 Attorneys for Respondents, Providence Corp. Develop

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

ARGUMENT

1. THE PROPER STANDARD FOR REVIEW IN THIS CASE IS DEFERENCE TO THE APPEALS OFFICER'S DECISION.

The reviewing Court is limited by NRS 233B.135 to whether there is substantial evidence to support findings of fact, and the reviewing Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the appeals officer on matter of weight or credibility or issues of fact. Apeceche v. White Pine Cnty., 96 Nev. 723, 615 P.2d 975 (1980).

Substantial evidence is that quantity and quality of evidence which a reasonable man would accept as adequate to support a conclusion. The statute allowing that the decision of an agency may be reversed if unsupported by substantial evidence in view of the entire record as submitted does not permit the reviewing court to pass on credibility or to reverse an administrative decision because it is against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence, if there is substantial evidence to sustain it. State, Emp't Sec. Dep't v. Hilton Hotels, 102 Nev. 606, 608 n.1, 729 P.2d 497 (1986).

Most issues are not purely questions of law, but rather are issues involving the finding of facts and the application of those facts to the law. Deference is to be given by the reviewing Court to conclusions of law made by the appeals officer.

Jones v. Rosier, 102 Nev. 215, 719 P.2d 805 (1986); State Indus. Ins. Sys. v.

Khweiss, 108 Nev. 123, 825 P.2d 218 (1992).

On issues of law it is appropriate for the reviewing Court to make an independent judgment, rather than a more deferential standard of review. Maxwell v. State Indus. Ins. Sys., 109 Nev. 327, 849 P.2d 267 (1993). A "pure legal question" is a question that is not dependent upon, and must necessarily be resolved without reference to any fact in the case before the Court. An example of a pure legal question might be a challenge to the facial validity of a statute.

Beavers v. State, Dep't of Motor Vehicles and Pub. Safety, 109 Nev. 435, 438 n.1, 851 P.2d 432 (1993). Matters of procedure are issues of law. Nyberg v. Nevada Indus. Comm'n, 100 Nev. 322, 324, 683 P.2d 3 (1984). The reviewing Court may undertake independent review of the administrative construction of a statute. State Indus. Ins. Sys. v. Campbell, 109 Nev. 997, 999, 862 P.2d 1184 (1993).

Hilton, supra, states:

Substantial evidence was well defined in Robertson Transp. Co. v. P.S.C., 159 N.W. 2d 636, 638 (Wis. 1968):

1. [S]ubstantial evidence [does] not include the idea of this court weighing the evidence to determine if a burden of proof was met or whether a view was supported by the preponderance of the evidence. Such tests are not applicable to administrative findings and decisions. We [equate] substantial quality of evidence which a reasonable man

could accept as adequate to support a conclusion. And, in this process, sec. 227.20 (1) (d) Stats. providing that the decision of an agency may be reversed if unsupported by substantial evidence in view of the entire record as submitted does not permit this court to pass on credibility or to reverse and administrative decision because it is against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence, if there is substantial evidence to sustain it.

[Emphasis added.]

2. THE FEBRUARY 7, 2017 APPEALS OFFICER'S DECISION AND ORDER IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD.

The standard for reviewing administrative action is abuse of discretion; thus, review is limited to determining whether there was substantial evidence in the Record to support the determination below. State Indus. Ins. Sys. v. Christensen, 106 Nev. 85, 787 P.2d 408 (1990). Pursuant to NRS 233B.135(3), this reviewing Court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the agency as to the weight of evidence on question of fact. This Court's role in reviewing an administrative decision is to determine whether the agency's decision was arbitrary or capricious and, thus, an abuse of discretion. Jourden v. State Indus. Ins. Sys., 109 Nev. 497, 853 P.2d 99 (1993). The Decision and Order of Appeals Officer Nielsen is deemed reasonable and lawful until reversed or set aside in whole or in part by this Court.

Substantial evidence has been defined as "[s]omething of substance and relevant consequence, and not vague, uncertain or irrelevant matter not carrying the quality of 'proof' or having fitness to induce conviction." <u>Peardon v. Peardon</u>, 65 Nev. 717, 765, 102 P.2d 309 (1948). A witness' sworn testimony before an

administrative agency can constitute substantial evidence. Washoe Cnty. v. John A. Dermody, Inc., 99 Nev. 608, 668 P.2d 280 (1993).

The Appeals Officer has full power and authority to determine the facts presented at administrative hearings and to construe and apply the applicable laws.

Nevada Indus. Comm'n v. Reese, 93 Nev. 115, 120, 560 P.2d 1352 (1977).

The Appeals Officer's findings <u>are</u> supported by the substantial evidence in the Record. The issue of whether the Appeals Officer should have found that Claimant had established a compensable workers' compensation claim cannot be re-weighed by this Court on judicial review.

3. THE APPEALS OFFICER'S DECISION AND ORDER PROPERLY FOUND THAT CLAIMANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO WORKERS' COMPENSATION BENEFITS

A. Claimant in a workers' compensation claim has the burden of proof to establish an entitlement to his requested benefits.

The Nevada Supreme Court previously held that the Nevada Industrial Insurance Act should be construed broadly and liberally, to protect the interest of the injured worker. Reasonable, liberal and practical construction was preferable to a narrow one, since the purpose of the Act was to give compensation, not deny it. *See*, Nevada Indus. Comm'n v. Peck, 100 Nev. 376, 381 (1984).

However, Section 11 of Senate Bill 316, adopted on June 18, 1993, and codified at NRS 616A.010, determined that claims shall be decided on their merits and not according to the principle of common law that requires statutes governing

workers' compensation to be liberally construed because they are remedial in nature.

For the accomplishment of these purposes, issues shall not be interpreted or construed broadly or liberally in favor of an injured employee, or to favor the rights and interests of an employer.

In attempting to prove his case, Claimant has the burden of going beyond speculation and conjecture. That means that Claimant and his wife must establish the work connection of his injuries, the causal relationship between the work-related injury and his disability, the extent of his disability, and all facets of the claim by a preponderance of all of the evidence. To prevail, a claimant must present and prove more evidence than an amount which would make his case and his opponent's "evenly balanced." Maxwell v. SIIS, supra; SIIS v. Khweiss, supra; SIIS v. Kelly, 99 Nev. 774, 671 P.2d 29 (1983); 3, A. Larson, The Law of Workmen's Compensation, §80.33(a).

NRS 616A.010 makes it clear that:

A claim for compensation filed pursuant to the provisions of this chapter or chapter 617 of NRS must be decided on its merits and not according to the principle of common law that requires statutes governing worker's compensation to be liberally construed because they are remedial in nature.

Based upon the evidence presented, Claimant's death was not as a result of his employment under his workers' compensation claim.

///

B. The determination to deny Claimant benefits was proper.

The Workers Compensation Act was written into law in Nevada to provide employees a means to receive medical care and benefits without the employee being required to prove in a civil or tort action that established that the employee had either intentionally or through the employer's negligence caused the harm to their employee.

However, the Nevada Workers Compensation Act requires that the employee ("Claimant") must establish that the injury was connected to his or her employment. The Nevada Supreme Court has held that the fact that an injury occurred on the employer's premise is not alone sufficient to make an injury a compensable claim.

This Court held in Rio Suite Hotel & Casino v. Gorsky, 113 Nev. 600, 605, 939 P.2d 1043 (1997) that the "Nevada Industrial Insurance Act is not a mechanism which makes administrators absolutely liable for injuries suffered by employees who are on the job." This Court concluded by stating, "The requirements of 'arising out of and in the course of employment' make it clear that a claimant must establish more than being at work and suffering an injury in order to recover."

The Nevada Workers Compensation Act has placed the burden on the Claimant to establish this connection. A claimant must satisfy his or her burden

1

3

4 5

6

7

9

10

11 12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20 21

22

23

24

25

26 27

28

the injury occurred while "in the course of employment".

meeting multiple elements. The first element is that a claimant must establish that

IN COURSE OF EMPLOYMENT

NRS 616B.612(1) requires an employer to provide compensation in accordance with the terms of the Nevada Industrial Insurance Act[4] for any employee injuries "arising out of and in the course of the employment." NRS 616C.150(1) provides that an injured employee is not entitled to receive workers' compensation unless he establishes by a preponderance of the evidence that his injury arose out of and in the course of his employment.

This Court has held that an employer is not liable for all injuries that an employee may sustain while employed.

We previously have explained that the language of the statute reveals that legislators did not intend the Nevada Industrial Insurance Act to make employers absolutely liable for any injury that might happen while an employee was working. Rather, the statute requires a claimant to "establish more than merely being at work and suffering an injury in order to recover.

MGM Mirage v. Cotton, 121 Nev. 396, 116 P.3d 56 (2005).

Defining what is "in the course of employment" is not a simple task. This Court has addressed that issue under many different fact patterns.

ACCIDENT ON THE PREMISE

If the accident occurs on the employer's property, the accident must have occurred within a reasonable time period before and after the work time is covered as a work injury. Cotton, supra.

In the case before this Court, the Claimant was not injured on the Employer's premises nor within a reasonable time period before or after the employee's employment. The act of operating a recreational vehicle occurred at Mr. Buma's friend's house and the day before Mr. Buma was to speak on behalf of his Employer.

ACCIDENT OFF OF THE EMPLOYER'S PREMISE

The argument that has been brought by the Appellant is Mr. Buma's employment required him to travel out of state to attend a sales presentation and therefore any injury that he suffered during his travel should be covered under the Worker's Compensation Act.

This issue is covered by case law under what is commonly known as the "Coming and Going Rule". This rule generally holds that workers' compensation was not intended to protect against perils coming to and/or leaving work. There are, however, exceptions to that rule. The underlying principle of these exceptions is that the "course of employment" should extend to any injury which occurred at a point where the employee was within range of dangers associated with his employment.

One exception to the "Coming and Going Rule" is referred to as the Employer's Conveyance exception. This general rule is that when the journey to or from work is made in the employer's conveyance, the journey is in the course of

employment. Examples of this rule is usually seen where the employee is using the company's vehicle or that the employer pays for the employee's use of his own vehicle. The reason for this exception is that the employee is placed at risks of the employment, since the risk are under the employer's control.

In Evans v. Southwest Gas Corp., 108 Nev. 1002, 842 P.2d 719 (1992), this Court held an employee may still be within the course and scope of his

In Evans v. Southwest Gas Corp., 108 Nev. 1002, 842 P.2d 719 (1992), this Court held an employee may still be within the course and scope of his employment when the travel to or from work confers a **distinct benefit** upon the employer or the employer exercised significant control over the employee, who was on call. In Evans, the employee was provided a hand held radio and a radio in his van. 108 Nev. 1002 (1992). The employee was allowed to take the van home in order to respond to emergencies. He would be notified of those emergencies via the radio or the hand held radio. The employee was required to take the van home to respond to emergencies.

In <u>Tighe v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dept.</u>, 110 Nev. 632, 877 P.2d. 1032 (1994), this Court held that an undercover narcotics officer who was driving home and subject to his employer's control at the time of the accident, was entitled to worker's compensation benefits. The <u>Tighe</u> Court created the "law enforcement" exception.

The <u>Tighe</u> Court further explained the Nevada position on this issue. 110 Nev. 632 (1994). This Court held that exceptions to the Coming and Going Rule

include <u>Evans</u> and <u>Tighe</u> because the employee was "subject to his employer's control" and was driving the employer's vehicle. The key to both of these cases is control. <u>Evans</u> mentions the two forms of radios and <u>Tighe</u> cites to the employee's car radio and beeper. The Court even stated that since Tighe was driving a police vehicle equipped with a police radio, he was "on call". <u>Id</u>. at 636.

In the case before this Court, the Employer had no control over where the Claimant stayed or when he arrived. The only requirement was that he was present at the Oil and Gas Convention in Houston, Texas, on March 30. Therefore, none of these exceptions to the "Coming and Going Rule" that would apply to find that Claimant's claim was compensable.

ACCIDENTS WHILE NOT AT WORK

This Court held that a claimant injured on his day off was covered as a workers' compensation claim since he was involved in a motor vehicle accident while performing a special errand for his employer. <u>Bob Allyn Masonry v.</u>

<u>Murphy</u>, 124 Nev. 279, 183 P.3d 193 (2008) and was injured while departing from the job site. This Court held that the claimant's injuries should be covered as a workers' compensation claim.

In so doing, we adopt the street-risk rule, which provides that, when an employee is required to drive as a component of employment, the risks and hazards associated with the roadways are incident to that employment, and thus injuries sustained due to risks associated with those roadways arise out of the employment. We also clarify that our workers' compensation jurisprudence includes an employee's return journey within the special errand exception to the going and coming rule, which provides that, even though going and coming from work

5

generally is not in the course of employment, an employee is acting within the course of employment when completing a "special errand" for the employer.

In the case before this Court, Claimant was not performing a special errand for the Employer at the time of his death while operating an ATV. Additionally, the accident was not on public roads but on his friend's property and Claimant was not required to drive recreational vehicles by his employer for his employment.

ACCIDENTS WHILE PREPARING FOR WORK

The Appellant has argued that Mr. Buma was staying at his friend's ranch to benefit his employment because it allowed him an opportunity to prepare with his friend and fellow participant for the next day's presentation, which benefitted the Claimant's employer's interest.

This Court looked at a case where an employee was injured while preparing the area for him to stay while he performed his job duties for his employer for the next day. Costley v. NIC, 53 Nev. 219, 296 Pac. 1011 (1931). The finding was that a miner injured while setting up his tent on his employer's premise the day before he was to start work was incidental to employment. The difference with this case and Costley is Claimant's accident did not occur on the Employer's premise nor did the act of performing a recreational activity while riding the vehicle constitute preparing for the presentation for the next day. The act that caused Mr. Buma's death was operating a recreational vehicle and not conversing

with his friend in the preparation of the next day event. Operating a recreational vehicle was purely a personal activity with no benefit to his Employer.

Therefore, none of the Nevada Supreme Court cases pertaining to the preparation of employment would apply to find that Claimant's claim was compensable.

PAYMENT OF TRAVEL EXPENSES ALONE DOES NOT MAKE THIS A COMPENSABLE CLAIM

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